STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

NOV 25 2013

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Trial Judge  
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-000426

---

James E. Waiters, Jr., ..... Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Petitioner.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

**

## QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in finding Respondent met his burden of proving a violation of his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The July 2006 term of the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for three counts of armed robbery (2006-GS-23-6230, -6231, -6232) and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime (2006-GS-23-6233). (App.pp.332-34; pp.336-38; pp.339-40). C. Timothy Sullivan, Esquire represented Respondent.

After the State called the case to trial, Respondent was found guilty of two counts of armed robbery<sup>1</sup> and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. On March 12, 2008, the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker sentenced Respondent to concurrent terms of seventeen years for each count of armed robbery and five years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. (App.pp.240-41; pp.343-45).

A notice of appeal was filed at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. J. Falkner Wilkes, Esquire perfected the appeal. (App.pp.252-64). The Court of Appeals affirmed Respondent's convictions and sentences. State v. Waiters, Op. No. 2010-UP-296 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 27, 2010). (App.pp.280-81).

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on December 23, 2010 (2010-CP-23-10380). (App.pp.282-88). A hearing was convened at the Greenville County Courthouse on November 1, 2012. (App.pp.294-324). Respondent was present and represented by R. Mills Ariail, Jr., Esquire. Karen C. Ratigan, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented the State. The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. granted relief in an order filed February 18, 2013. (App.pp.326-29).

---

<sup>1</sup> 2006-GS-23-6230, -6231.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent met his burden of proving a violation of his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury.**

The PCR judge found Respondent met his burden of proving a violation of his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury. Certiorari is warranted in this case because this ruling is in error.

After jury selection in this case, the trial judge made some preliminary remarks to the jury and excused them. (App.p.29, line 21 – p.40, line 1). After granting trial counsel’s motion to sequester witnesses, the trial judge stated the trial would start after a ten-minute break. (App.p.40, line 2 – p.41, line 22). After the jury reentered the courtroom, the assistant solicitor made his opening statement. (App.p.41). There is no statement or notation in the trial transcript indicating the jury was sworn.

In granting Respondent’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Respondent “demonstrated that [his] trial failed to comport with the South Carolina Code of Laws § 14-7-1100 jury oath requirement.” The PCR judge cited Article I, section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution and found that “[b]ased on the absence of

notation or comparable evidence in the record, [Respondent] has demonstrated a violation of his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury as provided by the South Carolina Constitution.” (App.p.327).

“The right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury.” S.C. Const. art I, § 14. “In impaneling juries in criminal cases, the jurors must be called, sworn, and impaneled anew for the trial of each case, according to the established practice.” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1100 (Supp. 2012). However, “[p]roceedings in a court of general jurisdiction will be presumed regular absent evidence to the contrary.” State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 329, 457 S.E.2d 616, 619 (Ct. App. 1995). The “presumption is always that a public officer has faithfully and correctly performed his official duties.” State v. Hollman, 232 S.C. 489, 501, 102 S.E.2d 873, 878-79 (1958) overruled on other grounds by Stevenson v. State, 335 S.C. 193, 516 S.E.2d 434 (1999).

The PCR judge erred in finding Respondent was denied the constitutional right to a trial by an impartial jury because the trial transcript lacked a notation that the jury was sworn. The absence of a notation that the jury was sworn is not sufficient to overcome the presumption of regularity of a trial. This Court addressed this issue in State v. Mayfield, 235 S.C. 11, 109 S.E.2d 716 (1959). In Mayfield, this Court found “[a]bsence of affirmative statement in the transcript that the jury was sworn furnishes no factual support for appellant’s contention that it was not. Appellant’s statement that the jury was not sworn stands alone, and is, in our opinion, insufficient to overcome the contrary presumption.” Id. at 23, 109 S.E.2d at 723 (citation omitted).

Furthermore, other states have addressed the issue of whether the absence in the record that the jury was sworn renders the trial a nullity. In Montgomery v. State, 47 A.3d 1140 (Md. App. 2012), the Maryland Court of Appeals noted there was an absence of a notation in the transcript that the jury was sworn. That court held, however, the presumption of regularity of convictions applies to the issue of whether or not the jury was sworn and concluded that since there was no affirmative indication the jury was unsworn, the presumption had not been rebutted. In Hill v. State, 728 S.E.2d 225 (Ga. 2012), the Georgia Supreme Court noted the mere failure of the record to reflect whether the jury was sworn does not constitute reversible error. In Allen v. State, 945 So.2d 422 (Miss. App. 2006), the holding of the Mississippi Court of Appeals basically combined these findings. In Allen, that court held there was a rebuttable presumption that the trial court properly performed its duties and there was nothing in the record that the jury was, in fact, not sworn. That court held the absence in the transcript of a notation the jury was sworn was not enough to constitute error.

Accordingly, the absence of a notation in the trial transcript did not overcome the presumption that Respondent's trial was conducted in the regular manner. Respondent failed to demonstrate his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury was denied in his case. As Respondent failed to meet his burden of proving that he is entitled to a new trial, the PCR judge erred in granting Respondent's application for post-conviction relief. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and reverse the lower court's ruling. If this Court grants certiorari, the State asks permission under the rules to brief the issue discussed above fully.