STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 28 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

JAMES E. WAITERS,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000426

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in finding Respondent met his burden of proving a violation of his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury?

COUNTER QUESTION PRESENTED

2. Was there any evidence to support the PCR judge's ruling that Respondent was denied his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury where the record is devoid of any evidence the jury was sworn, and contains evidence from which a reasonable inference can be drawn that it was not sworn?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history

Respondent was indicted at the July 25, 2006 term of the Greenville County Grand Jury for three counts of armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. App. 332-333; app. 336-337; app. 339-340; app. 345. His case was called to trial on March 11, 2012 before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, and a jury. App. 1. Timothy Sullivan represented respondent, and Douglas Webb was the assistant solicitor. App. 1.

On March 12, 2012, the jury found respondent guilty of two counts of armed robbery and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. The jury found respondent not guilty on one count of armed robbery. App. 241, ll. 1-22. Judge Welmaker sentenced respondent to concurrent terms of seventeen years imprisonment. App. 250, ll. 10-23.

Respondent was represented on appeal by J. Falkner Wilkes. Assistant Attorney General Christina Catoe represented the state. The Court of Appeals affirmed respondent's convictions in State v. James Waiters, Jr., 2010-UP-296 (March 27, 2010). App. 280-281.

Respondent then filed an application for post-conviction relief on December 23, 2010. App. 282-288. The state filed a return dated April 12, 2011 requesting an evidentiary hearing and the appointment of counsel for respondent. App. 289-293.

An evidentiary hearing was convened on November 1, 2012 before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. R. Mills Ariail, Jr. represented respondent, and Karen C. Ratigan represented the state. App. 294.

Judge Dennis issued an order granting post-conviction relief on February 8, 2013. App. 326-329. The state sought certiorari from this Court, and this Return of respondent follows.

Relevant facts

Following jury selection, Judge Welmaker made opening remarks to the jurors, before excusing the jury to the jury room. App. 29, l. 21 – 40, l. 2. After hearing and granting a very brief motion for sequestration, Judge Welmaker called for a ten-minute break. App. 40, ll. 3-23.

Once the jury returned, the solicitor immediately proceeded with his opening argument and it was clear the jury **was not sworn because defense counsel had stated the jury was not sworn at App. 41, ll. 5-9.** App. 40, l. 24- 41, ll. 5-9; Tr. 41, l. 10 - 48, l. 5. The record, as the PCR court ultimately found, is devoid of any statement or notation that the jury was sworn, or that the jury had taken any oath or affirmation. App. 326-329.

At the post-conviction relief hearing trial counsel Sullivan testified that he had looked through the trial transcript and did not see anywhere in the record that the jury was sworn. App. 314, l. 21 – 315, l. 8. Trial counsel also said that respondent “[t]old me from day one that he wanted a trial and that he did not rob these ladies.” App. 316, ll. 7-10.

The PCR judge stated that he knew the court reporter from respondent’s trial, Deborah Garrison, and he stated that she had been his court reporter for nine years. The judge offered that he had concluded the jury was never sworn. He commented on the remedy from his research of cases from other jurisdictions, and said that he would give the Assistant Attorney General time to further research the issue before he ruled. App. 319, l. 10 – 323, l. 25.

An order granting post-conviction relief was filed on February 18, 2013. App. 326-329.

This order stated:

Based upon Applicant’s PCR application, statements of counsel, and the record as a whole, this Court makes the following findings. On March 12, 2008, Applicant was convicted of two counts of armed robbery and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime by a jury verdict. Following jury selection for Applicant’s trial, the trial judge made some brief, opening remarks to the jurors before excusing the jury to the jury room. After hearing a motion from Applicant’s trial counsel, the trial judge

then called for a ten-minute break. Following the break, counsel for the State addressed the jury with its opening statement. The record contains no notation or any other evidence that the jury was sworn under oath or affirmation prior to the State's opening statements or at any other point during the trial.

South Carolina Code of Laws § 14-7-1100 requires a jury in every criminal case to take an oath or affirmation. Based on the absence of notation or comparable evidence in the record, Applicant has demonstrated that Applicant's trial failed to comport with the South Carolina Code of Laws § 14-7-1100 jury oath requirement. The South Carolina Constitution guarantees all criminal defendants the right to trial by an impartial jury. See S.C. Const. art 1, § 14. Based on the absence of notation or comparable evidence in the record, Applicant has demonstrated a violation of his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury as provided by the South Carolina Constitution.

App. 327.

ARGUMENT

There was evidence to support the PCR judge's ruling that Respondent was denied his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury where the record is devoid of any evidence the jury was sworn as mandated by law, and certiorari is not warranted.

S.C. Code § 14-7-1100 requires that " [T]he jurors **must** be called, **sworn**, and impaneled anew for the trial of each case, according to the established practice." (emphasis added). See, also, S.C. Code §14-7-1130: "Any juror in any court of this State may make solemn and conscientious affirmation and declaration, according to the form of his religious belief or profession, as to any matter or thing whereof an oath is required and this affirmation and declaration must be held as valid and effectual as if the person had taken an oath on the Holy Bible."

Regardless of any Court's established practice, the swearing of the jurors is mandatory as it is elementary that a criminal defendant has the right, under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, to trial by a fair and impartial jury. See Groppi v. Wisconsin, 400 U.S. 490 (1971); Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961); Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510 (1927).

Although this Court has not directly ruled on the remedy for failure to swear a jury, other courts have weighed the issue and declared an unsworn jury verdict a nullity.¹ As the Court stated

¹ In State v. Hollman, 232 S.C. 489, 102 S.E.2d 873 (1958), the issue was raised and rejected largely on technical grounds to include a discussion of former Rule 4 of the Supreme Court Rules. This Court also found that the issue was made not made a ground of appeal, and a finding that the Record disclosed no factual basis to support the conclusion either that the jury was not duly sworn or the fact of said swearing was not shown in the Record of the Trial in the office of the Clerk. Here, conversely, respondent offered evidence at the PCR hearing that the jury was not sworn, the judge found this evidence credible, and this Court's standard of review is "any evidence." The judge further had personal knowledge of the competency of the court reporter. Certainly the petitioner had the opportunity to present contrary documentary or sworn evidence if it was available.

in Steele v. Indiana, 446 N.E.2d 353,354 (Ind.App. 1983):

The oath given to a jury prior to the commencement of a trial is not a mere formality. *It is intended to impress upon the jury its solemn duty to carefully deliberate on the matter at issue. Most importantly the oath serves as a safeguard of a criminal defendant's fundamental right to a trial by an impartial jury.*

(Emphasis added).

Indeed, the swearing of the jury is much more than a mere formality or tradition. Both the State and Federal Constitutions include Double Jeopardy clauses protecting the rights of the accused. Generally, it is at the swearing and impaneling of the jury when this constitutional protection attaches. Slate v. Baum, 584 S.E.2d 419, 422. (Ct. App. 2003); People v. Pribble, 72 Mich.App. 219, 249 N.W.2d 363 (1976). This critical point was not chosen at random. Rather, it is when the jury is sworn and the trial commences that the defendant's liberty rests with the jury. Downum v. United States, 372 U.S. 734, 738 (1963).

A criminal defendant's constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury commands a juror's impartial frame of mind from the very beginning of the trial, such that the juror's deliberations and ultimate verdict are influenced only by competent evidence and instructions of the trial judge. See People v. Pribble, 72 Mich. App. 219,224-225 (1976) (citing People v. Kaminschke, 3 Mich. App. 236,240-241 (1966).). "[A juror's] duty is not just a final duty to render a verdict in accordance with the law, but [it is] the duty to act in accordance with the law at all stages of trial." Pribble at 224." The oath is administered to insure that the jurors pay attention to the evidence, observe the credibility and demeanor of the witnesses and conduct themselves *at all times*, as befits one holding such an important position. The oath is designed to protect the fundamental right of trial by an *impartial jury*" *Id.* (emphasis added).

A jury's oath is a critical component of an impartial jury, afforded to all criminal defendants by both the State and Federal Constitutions.² Because the jury's oath acts to ensure impartiality on the part of the jurors, the failure to swear a jury cannot be considered a minor procedural error in the trial process. This Court and the United States Supreme Court has held that a structural error in a criminal court is not subject to the harmless error test. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 309-310 (1991); State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 741 S.E.2d 694 (2013). The Supreme Court defined a structural defect or error as one which affects "the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself." *Id* at 310. In Fulminante, the Supreme Court was careful to distinguish errors such as the absence of counsel or the presence of an impartial judge, which affect the entire trial, from those such as involuntary statements or confessions, which may be corrected by the harmless error test. *Id*.

In Rivera, this Court held the refusal to allow the defendant to testify was error, and that it could not be harmless error. In Rivera the defendant wished to testify and the judge for paternalistic reasons refused to allow this.

As previously noted above, a jury consisting of jurors who have not been sworn and have not made any affirmation cannot constitute an impartial jury. "We simply cannot know, however, whether a juror might take these civic, legal and moral obligations *less seriously* if he or she were not asked to take an oath." Alston v. State, 934 A.2d 949, 963 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2007) (emphasis original). An assessment of the oath's meaning to individual jurors is subjective and difficult to ascertain, making the harmless errors test useless as a remedy. *Id*. A total failure to swear a jury, as here, would require a presumption of prejudice.

² This Court can take judicial notice of the fact that its Court Reporter Manual at p. 29 while discussing parentheticals lists, as an example, "[t]he fact that an event transpired, times relating to jury actions." The PCR court reporter here, Caroline Hiskell, confirmed to the PCR judge that the swearing of the jury and witnesses were noted by the court reporter. App. 321, ll. 7-23.

In Alston, defense counsel notified the court mid-trial that the jury had not been sworn. The trial judge denied a motion for mistrial, but immediately swore the jury with what can only be considered a retroactive oath. Alston at 955.

Ultimately, the Alston court found that the jury's oath was administered early enough, before deliberations and that the judge carefully instructed the jury about its duty to listen to evidence before any evidence was presented. *Id.* at 964 Alston draw a sharp distinction between an unsworn jury and a belatedly sworn jury, holding the harmless error test usefulness was limited to belatedly sworn jury. See also People v. Clouse, 859 P.2d 228,233 (Colo. App. 1992) (holding that a complete failure to swear a jury "cannot be waived in any manner or under any circumstances.") and Grant v. State, 272 Ga. 213, 528 S.E.2d 512 (2000). (holding that failure to administer jury oath requires guilty verdict to be set aside).

Harris v. State, 956 A.2d 204, 212 (Md. 2008) states: "Turning to the matter of harmless error, the appellate courts in other states, almost unanimously, hold that complete failure to swear the jury can never be harmless error." *Id.* at 213. In Harris, the Maryland Court reiterated its view that the jury's oath was an "essential ingredient of a legally constituted jury and an impartial jury and deemed its absence a 'structural error' akin to a defective reasonable doubt instruction." *Id.* at 212-213.

Probably most attorneys trying a case have seen the power that an oath to tell the truth has had on a particular witness about to testify. The oath the jurors take to deliver a true verdict is of equal if not greater consequence.³ Certiorari should be denied in this case since there was ample